TEACHING HANDWRITING: A COMPARISON OF RECOMMENDATIONS FROM RESEARCH AND THE NOVA SCOTIA CURRICULUM

by

Marc A. Alexander

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in School Psychology

at

Mount Saint Vincent University Halifax, Nova Scotia September 2015

© Copyright by Marc Alexander, 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	iv
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	. 1
Automaticity and Fluency in Handwriting	. 2
Cognitive Processes in Handwriting and Learning.	. 4
Evidence-Based Approaches to Beginning Handwriting Instruction	. 8
Terminology: Printing and Cursive Writing	. 11
Instruction in Sentence Construction	. 12
CHAPTER 2: A SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICES FOR	
THE EFFECTIVE TEACHING OF HANDWRITING IN THE EARLY	
ELEMENTARY YEARS	. 18
General Recommendations about Handwriting Instruction	. 18
A Handwriting Curriculum	. 18
When to Begin Teaching Handwriting	. 22
CHAPTER 3: THE NOVA SCOTIA ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS CURRICULUM	. 24
Additional Provincial Documents	. 26
CHAPTER 4: COMPARING THE NOVA SCOTIA CURRICULUM TO	
THE RESEARCH	. 28
General Recommendations about Handwriting Instruction	. 28
A Handwriting Curriculum	. 29
CHAPTER 5: RECOMMENDATIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	. 33
Curriculum Recommendations	. 33
General Recommendations about Handwriting Instruction	. 33

A Handwriting Curriculum – Recommendations for Content and	d
Methods	34
Recommendations for Future Teacher Documents	36
Recommendations for Teachers	36
Recommendations for School Psychologists	38
Assessment and Diagnosis	39
Implications for School Psychologist Recommendations	40
Limitations and Future Research	42
Conclusion	42
References	44

ABSTRACT

Handwriting is a necessary skill that also contributes to other learning. Information about how to structure a handwriting curriculum is available in the research literature, but handwriting often receives less formal instruction time than math and reading. This could be because of how handwriting instruction is framed in provincial curricula. English Language Arts curriculum documents for grades primary, one, and two in the province of Nova Scotia were reviewed in the context of evidence-based recommendations about teaching handwriting. The curriculum documents focused on the development of written composition skills rather than beginning handwriting skills. Implications for future curriculum documents, teacher training, and for school psychologists' assessment of students' handwriting are discussed.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

Handwritten work has played a key role in the documenting of history and shaping society into what it is today. Before the development of computer technology, handwriting served as a significant way for people to communicate and record events for later years. Handwriting is still used by many people for many reasons such as to make a quick grocery list, to record a telephone message, and to complete applications. Students are routinely required to handwrite information in class in the form of notes, while completing an examination, or to write down assignments from their teachers. McHale and Cermak (1992) and Marr, Cermak, Cohn, and Henderson (2003) estimated that young children spend between 31 to 60 percent of their time engaged in handwriting or other fine motor tasks. It could be argued that time spent on computers has reduced actual handwriting time in school, but handwriting skills are still important for students to be successful.

Poor handwriting has been found to have a negative impact on students in several ways. Research suggests that poor handwriting is correlated with weaker overall academic performance and weak learning confidence (Mather & Roberts, 1995). A study by Graham, Berninger, Abbott, Abbott, and Whitaker (1997) revealed that written composition performance was negatively impacted in terms of both the quality and quantity of writing in students with weaker handwriting skills. Additionally, lower grades have also been reported for students who display poor handwriting (Alston & Taylor, 1987). Despite the obvious importance of writing, it generally receives less emphasis than the other two Rs (reading and 'rithmetic) in North American school curricula today (National Commission on Writing, 2003).

Automaticity and Fluency in Handwriting

Two important components which contribute to efficient handwriting are automaticity and fluency. Automaticity, as defined by La Berge and Samuels (1974), refers to the ability to complete a process swiftly, accurately, and without requiring conscious attention. The related term of handwriting fluency refers to the rate at which letters are produced (Deno, Marston, & Mirkin, 1982) and implies automaticity of respective writing movements (Wicki, Hurschler Lichtsteiner, Saxer Geiger, Muller, 2014). Multiple studies illustrate the importance of automaticity and fluency in handwriting (Medwell & Wray, 2007; Medwell & Wray, 2014; Wicki et al., 2014). Using the capacity based model of working memory (Just & Carpenter, 1992), once automaticity has been achieved then higher level cognitive processes involved in writing (composition planning, language generation, editing) can occur more easily and no longer are lower level processes straining working memory (Grabowski, 2010; Peverly, 2006).

The ability to automatically generate handwriting on paper without having to think about it is a predictor of handwriting speed as well as orthographic coding skills (Wicki et al., 2014). Orthographic coding refers to the processing of visual symbols of letter, clusters of letters, and words (Dinehart, 2015). In their study, Wicki et al. (2014) assessed 93 fourth graders' handwriting speed and legibility through use of a copying task. Additionally, a digitizing tablet was used to assess handwriting automaticity, and stroke pressure and frequency. Number of inversions in velocity (NIV), which takes into account the number of accelerations and decelerations per stroke, was used to measure automaticity. Visual-motor integration, or the ability of the eyes and hands to work together in smooth efficient patterns involving visual perception and eye-hand coordination (Beery, 1989), was also assessed using the Beery VMI (Beery, 2006). Orthographic skills were also further assessed using the Hamburger Schreibprobe

4-5, a standardized measure (May, 2002). The authors concluded that, when under time constraints, females wrote with a higher degree of automaticity than males, and left-handed individuals wrote with a lower degree of automaticity than right handed individuals. Relatedly, stroke frequency rates were also slower for individuals who were left-handed when compared to right-handed individuals. Importantly, when under time constraints, ten-year-olds were able to increase their automaticity level (as measured by NIV), despite the fact that as the authors state, most ten year olds do not have automaticity in their handwriting skills during this developmental period. Consistent with the suggestion set forth by Medwell and Wray (2007), Wicki et al. (2014) concluded that there was a need for teaching of handwriting during the first four years of schooling in order to increase automaticity of handwriting, as children may be able to attain more automaticity in their handwriting at earlier ages.

Medwell and Wray (2014) also examined the relationship of handwriting automaticity to composition skills. The study design involved gathering data from 186 students who were in Year 2 (grade one) and 198 students in Year 6 (grade five) at four randomly selected schools in England. Students in both groups completed handwriting Standard Assessment Tasks (SAT), which assessed handwriting style and neatness through a task requiring a sample of handwriting; a handwriting speed measure (Handwriting Speed Test), which asked participants to read and reproduce a sentence containing all alphabet letters as many times as possible in three minutes; and an alphabet task measuring handwriting automaticity by having participants write as many lower case letters of the alphabet in order as possible in one minute. They furthermore gathered measures of composition by asking participants to compose a longer and a shorter piece of writing which were then scored by teachers. Medwell and Wray (2014) discovered a very high correlation between performance on the alphabet task and composition performance, suggesting

that the ability to generate letters automatically was important in determining the composition level of students. Performance on the alphabet task also accounted for 34% of the variance in quality of composition amongst these participants. Thus, the study brings to light not only the importance of automaticity, but also the notion that higher level tasks involved with writing may suffer because generating the basic letters themselves likely also puts a strain working memory (Medwell & Wray, 2014).

Graphonomics research by Tucha, Tucha, and Lange (2008) has also contributed to understanding of the handwriting process and the role of attention in writing. Graphonomics refers to the interdisciplinary research field directed toward analyzing the relationships between the planning and generation of handwriting and drawing movements, the resulting spatial traces of handwriting and drawing instruments and the dynamic features of these traces (Tucha et al., 2008). According to the authors, graphonomic research places less emphasis on the style and neatness of handwriting. Rather, a focus on the spatial and kinematic processes involved in handwriting is thought to be important for efficient handwriting (Tucha et al., 2008). The authors of this article describe their research on adults who completed handwriting tasks that varied with respect to level of attention needed. One task involved subjects having to write sentences repetitively in forward or reverse (mirror) form. When the subjects performed mirror writing tasks or wrote non-words, greater attention was needed and automaticity of writing was impaired.

Cognitive Processes in Handwriting and Learning

It is evident that multiple cognitive processes (e.g., working memory, visual-motor intergration, attention) can influence handwriting ability because handwriting is a complex task that requires and strains multiple cognitive resources. Specifically, lower level tasks such as

planning and motor execution take up valuable cognitive resources until an individual develops ability to write easily and consistently for long periods (Peverly, Garner, & Vekaria, 2014). There is evidence to suggest that working memory, the cognitive space where information from the environment and long-term memory is held and manipulated to achieve remembering and learning (Baddeley, 2000) plays a role in writing quality (Peverly, 2006). As highlighted in Peverly's (2006) review article, multiple models of working memory seem to suggest that the most efficient way to maximize the benefits of our limited capacity working memory system is to teach and practice the basic skills. In this case, the development of basic letter formation and fluency and speed must be emphasized in handwriting so that working memory is no longer strained for these basic tasks, and optimal learning can occur.

Practicing handwriting until it is an automatic skill will not only allow for lower demand on working memory during the writing process but it could also have an impact on other areas of learning such as recognition of letters of the alphabet. Longcamp, Zerbato-Poudou, and Velay (2005) studied teaching stroke sequence to 76 children who were broken into two groups of 38 children. Participants' ages ranged from 3 years old to 5 years old. Each group learned to copy letters of the alphabet, either by hand or by keyboarding for three weeks, consisting of one half-hour session per week. Letter recognition was evaluated at the end of the three week training period and again one week later. Handwriting training helped children older than four to memorize letter forms. This was not seen in the participants who keyboarded. The authors noted that this was likely because keystrokes were not associated with a visual representation of a letter. The authors concluded that learning about handwriting could also help someone develop keyboarding skills because learning to form the shape of a letter could help with visual identification and discrimination of letters, necessary to develop good keyboarding skills.

More recent evidence for the processes involved with handwriting can be seen in recent research using neuroimaging while handwriting tasks are being performed. The contribution of cognitive neuroscience to learning has been described extensively by Dehaene (2011) who cites extensive studies which have used neuroimaging to demonstrate that academic tasks such as handwriting encourage brain activity in regions of the brain previously not anticipated.

James and Engelhardt (2012) examined the areas of the brain impacted when young students performed handwriting tasks and other tasks. In this study, the researchers recruited 15 participants (8 females, 7 males, ages 4 and 5 years old), who had not yet learned to handwrite. Participants were exposed to a letter or a shape on an index card and were asked to draw (which amounted to printing for the letters), trace, or type the letter or shape without the experimenter naming it (James & Engelhardt, 2012). Participants had contact with 12 letters and 12 shapes, four of each were given in each condition, and 12 more shapes were later given in the fMRI as controls. Specifically, in the first part of the research, participants were seated with the experimenter and underwent a single training session involving six conditions that were presented in random order. Participants were then asked to trace, draw, or type capital letters and shapes, repeating each action eight times with one stimulus before advancing to a different stimulus within the same condition. The experimenter held up the index card model throughout the trials, and the participant would then proceed to draw a symbol, which they would complete eight times under the same procedure. Once four letters and four shapes were drawn the child would move on to the next condition (typing). This training took approximately 30 minutes to complete.

Once participants were placed and comfortable in the fMRI, three or four functional runs were completed in which children were told to look at stimuli. Each run was 4 minutes and 55

seconds long and contained 8 blocks, 6 of which were training stimuli and 2 which were control stimuli. A 20 second fixation cross was shown after these functional runs before a first block was shown, consisting of 16 stimuli from one of the learned conditions. Blocks were separated by an interval 10 seconds in length, where only a fixation cross was shown. Each condition was repeated three times in random order within each block as there were only four training stimuli in each condition. The imagining session took approximately 20 minutes to complete.

A regions-of-interest (ROI) analysis was performed which analyzes anatomical localization of the anterior and posterior fusiform gyri in each participant's brain. The data from these regions were gathered and peak activation within each region was used as a data point.

Results indicated from the ROI that the left fusiform gyrus was activated more after participants printed rather than typed, traced, or perceived letters (James & Engelhardt, 2012). The authors concluded that the ability to perceive letters can be aided by and is linked to handwriting experience and that this is an important finding given that the left fusiform gyrus is known to be involved in reading and letter processing (Flowers et al., 2004; Garrett et al., 2000; Schlagger & McCandliss, 2007).

Handwriting has also been shown to be important in the process of learning more broadly. Mueller and Oppenheimer (2014) devised a study in which participants were seated, generally two at a time, but sometimes alone, in a room which was preset with either a laptop or a notepad. One of five TED talks, all of which were deemed to be interesting but not common knowledge, was projected onto the board in front of the room. Participants were asked to use their usual note taking strategy. After 30 minutes had passed since seeing the mock lecture, participants were asked both factual-recall questions and conceptual-application questions about the lecture. The authors found that participants who took notes on a laptop tended to take

verbatim notes whereas handwriting note takers summarized information in their own words. Participants who took notes by hand did better than laptop note takers on tests covering both conceptual and factual content after the 30 minute delay and after one week. The authors noted that it was possible that the act of taking notes by hand could activate cognitive processes which contribute to long term learning.

Evidenced Based Approaches to Beginning Handwriting Instruction

Since learning to handwrite has broad implications for later learning, it is important to use sound evidence based approaches to handwriting instruction. During the early elementary years handwriting instruction is first introduced in a structured setting. The important skills of building automaticity and fluency in handwriting also begin in early grades and children who fail to develop these skills are likely to struggle with written expression later on (Graham & Harris, 2000; Graham, Harris, & Fink, 2000).

Berninger et al. (1997) screened approximately 700 students and identified 144 first graders at risk for handwriting difficulties who were randomly assigned to one of six conditions (motor imitation; visual cue; memory retrieval; visual cue + memory retrieval; copy; and the control group of phonological awareness). Five of the groups received different kinds of handwriting instruction that was delivered in groups of 3 students which met twice per week for 24 twenty-minute lessons. One control group received 10 minutes of phonological awareness teaching over the same time periods. Results indicated that children who received instruction involving the use of visual cues and memory retrieval tactics significantly improved their letter copying, word copying, and printing accuracy. Specifically, most improvement was noted when students were provided with numbered arrows as cues to the nature and order of strokes needed to produce a letter (visual cues) and required to cover letters and then write them from memory

Datchuk and Kubina (2012) conducted a literature review of 19 studies to analyze the effects of intervention on handwriting, sentence construction, and grammar. The participants in the studies were students in grades K-12 who received special Learning Disability services. The authors concluded that instruction in letter formation with visual cues led to enhanced handwriting performance across the studies where it was used. Datchuk and Kubina (2012) also offered several recommendations for primary grade teachers who have students who may not be showing development in writing.

Datchuk and Kubina (2012) suggested that teachers should practice modelling letter formation with visual cues and memory retrieval. The strongest support for this approach came from the Berninger et al. (1997) study where students showed handwriting improvement when they were provided with visual cues of arrows and numbers surrounding each alphabet letter as prompts for correctly forming letters and placing them in sequence. Students also benefited from viewing a correctly formed letter, covering the letter, producing the letter from memory, and comparing it with the letter that was presented to them initially.

Another suggestion Datchuk and Kubina (2012) provided is for teachers to monitor a student's progress by administering an alphabet or a copying task. An example of an alphabet task would be an activity where students have to write as many letters of the alphabet as they can remember in a certain time frame. In a related copying task, students would be provided words or sentences to simply copy down as quickly as they could over a certain period of time.

Afterwards, the teacher would score the student's work based on the speed of work and how legible they produced their handwriting, and provide instruction on errors given (Datchuk & Kubina, 2012).

Datchuk and Kubina also recommended that teachers use orthographic coding activities in order to reinforce the names and shapes of letters. During reading or spelling activities for example, additional time could be set aside for teachers to introduce letter sounds or words. During an activity focusing on students learning the proper pronunciation of words, the student could also receive an activity which required them to write the letter out and practice writing it correctly.

Other kindergarten research explored potential component skills for beginning writers and its relation to their overall writing performance at the end of kindergarten. Twenty-one teachers from nine schools and 242 students were recruited from a larger study by Kim, Al Otaiba, Puranik, Folsom, Greulich, and Wagner (2011). In the larger study, classroom teachers in the treatment group were trained in the kindergarten version of Connor et al.'s (2009) Individualized Student Instruction (ISI), while classroom teachers in the waitlist control group received general professional development. Teachers in both groups attended a two-day workshop about the importance of teaching reading in an individualized way through individualized attention. The workshop included information about reading centers and provided training on the Response to Intervention (RTI) model. All teachers received progress reports with respect to student reading, but only teachers in the treatment (ISI) group obtained continued training with respect to individualized reading and biweekly in class support. Additionally, teachers in the ISI group were given software that provided recommendations for effective amounts and types of reading instruction that should be used with each student based on data. Oral language skills, spelling, letter writing fluency, and reading skills were measured, along with the ability to compose a brief narrative text. Data were collected in the fall, winter, and spring, with the spring assessments used because writing was only administered at this time

(Kim et al., 2011). The results revealed that oral language, spelling, and letter writing fluency displayed a unique relationship to the end of kindergarten writing performance. They concluded that all of these areas should be included in early writing instruction.

The importance of fluency in handwriting cannot be overstated, and a main challenge for beginning writers is learning how to write fluently enough to be able to express their ideas (MacArthur & Graham, 2013). The findings of Kim et al. (2011), that letter writing fluency is a contributor to end of kindergarten writing performance, highlights the importance of effective instruction surrounding such fluency building. Furthermore, evidence suggests that those who obtain instruction in handwriting produce longer, more fluent, and overall better pieces of writing (Santangelo & Graham, 2012), possibly because fluency with handwriting frees cognitive resources which can be focussed on the content of writing (Hayes & Chenowith, 2006). Finally, another body of research suggests that fluency building may prevent writing disabilities (Berninger et al., 2009; Graham et al., 2000). Berninger and Richards (2002) recommended that teachers ought to teach handwriting explicitly, teach in short sessions of no more than 10 minutes, and allow for practice after handwriting instruction.

Terminology: Printing and Cursive Writing

The term *handwriting* is used to refer to a number of different ways of getting written symbols onto paper using our hands. Generally there are two types of handwriting: printing and cursive. Printing (sometimes called manuscript writing) has traditionally been the first type of handwriting introduced to children. It is often introduced prior to school attendance in an attempt to get the child ready for school and then more formally in the early grades. Cursive writing has typically been introduced in later grades (Oliver, 1990 as cited in Feder & Majnemer, 2007).

Graham and Weintraub (1996) suggested that neither script has proven to be more effective than

the other. Graham (2010) suggested that teachers begin with teaching printing. He noted that children will often have prior exposure to printing at home and that reading development may be facilitated by learning printing. Graham also stated that learning to print means that slanted printing that can be joined (D'Nealian writing) can be taught more easily later and that this type of handwriting can be performed as quickly as cursive writing. Berninger et al. (2006) noted that printing involves different processes than cursive writing and printing places fewer demands on cognitive and fine motor processes than cursive writing. It makes sense, therefore, that printing should be the initial focus for teaching younger children about handwriting.

Instruction in Sentence Construction

Once an individual is able to produce words accurately and fluently, it is important to also be able to learn how to combine strings of words to create sentences. Creating a sentence is not a simple task, and requires formulating an idea, retrieving words to match the idea, arranging words into correct sentence structures, and then possibly editing the message so that it makes more sense (Saddler, 2013). Such tasks are difficult for college aged students (Kellogg, 1987), let alone for children (Scardamalia & Bereiter, 1986). To construct a paragraph, the process of sentence construction must be completed over and over again placing even greater demands on the writer. Research into the writing process suggests that children learn how sentences are formed long before they begin to write because oral language provides the structure of how words are supposed to be combined (Saddler, 2013). Children then learn that noun-verb combinations form sentences, and that there are different kinds of sentences (Saddler, 2013). Being able to construct grammatically correct sentences is important so that grammatical errors, which distract the reader from attending to the overall writing, are not present (Saddler & Graham 2005). Evidenced based research in this area promotes explicit and systematic

instruction in sentence construction and sentence combining (Datchuk & Kubina, 2012; Graham & Perin, 2007; Saddler, Behforooz, & Asaro, 2008) to free cognitive resources needed for other writing processes (Graham, 1982).

The Datchuk and Kubina (2012) literature review provided support for teaching sentence construction, finding that students improved in sentence construction following instruction in simple or complicated sentence types. A model-lead-test approach (Archer & Hughes, 2011), which uses systematic and explicit instruction, was used in most studies that involved simple sentence instruction. This approach required instructors to model simple sentence construction using picture-word prompts. Participants then vocally described pictures and obtained immediate feedback about their description from an instructor. If the descriptions were deemed to be correct, then the participant transcribed sentences. Eventually, participants were able to compose compound or complex sentences, as instructors faded feedback assistance while teaching about subjects and verbs throughout. Datchuk and Kubina (2012) suggest that using picture word prompts allows individuals to shift their focus from generating ideas to describing pictures, which may decrease the difficulty of sentence writing. An additional model-lead-test formatted study by McCurdy, Skinner, Watson, and Shriver (2008) provided examples of complete and incomplete sentences to participants and had participants then choose from two story starters and write a composition. This method also proved beneficial.

Shumaker and Sheldon (1998) used a program for teaching simple sentence construction (Fundamentals of Sentence Writing) which involved having instructors model a strategy known as PENS MARK. PENS MARK is an acronym for: Pick a sentence formula, Explore word to fit the formula, Note the words, Search and check, Mark out the imposters, Ask if there is a verb, Root out the subject, and Key in on the beginning, ending, and meaning. By introducing this

approach and by fading assistance over time, participants displayed large increases in the number of complete and complex sentences (Bui, Schumaker, & Deshler, 2006).

Several studies in the Datchuk and Kubina (2012) review began with instruction in complicated sentence building, requiring instructors to model combining multiple simple sentences with adjectives, underlined phrases, and conjunctions. A peer-assisted learning strategy was also utilized in which one participant served as a player and another served as a coach who corrected and provided feedback during practice. Pairs then reversed and practiced performing each role. Multiple other studies further revealed that struggling writers receiving sentence-combining instruction outperformed struggling writers who received grammar instruction alone (Saddler & Graham, 2005; Saddler, Asaro, & Behforooz, 2008; Saddler, Behforooz, & Asaro, 2008).

Saddler and Graham (2005) used the Test of Written Language 3 (TOWL-3; Hammill & Larsen, 1996) to identify skilled and less skilled writers in fourth grade classrooms. Forty-four students were then randomly assigned into either a sentence combining instruction condition or a grammar instruction condition. Equal numbers of skilled and less skilled writers were assigned to each group and pairing occurred between skilled and less skilled writers. Each student pair received 30 lessons that were 20 minutes in duration and lasted for a period of 10 weeks. The sentence combining condition (Strong, 1986) aimed at improving sentence construction and focused on teaching how to combine smaller sentences into a compound sentence using *and*, *but*, and *because*. The first unit began with using *and* to form compound sentences. The next involved embedding an adjective or adverb from one sentence to another (e.g., combining *They run to the playground* and *They run quickly* to make *They run quickly to the playground*). The next lessons focused on creating complex sentences (e.g., combining *The students all cheered*

and *The game stopped* to make *The students all cheered when the game stopped*). The last units involved teaching students to combine what they learned in previous units. The procedure was such that the instructor modeled, and then had pairs of students practice orally while the instructor transcribed. Assistance was provided while the students practiced combining and transcribing on their own, with instructor assistance gradually faded over time enabling students to help one another. Lastly, instruction continued such that students moved from combining sentences using cues to other exercises where they were not to use cues. In the grammar instruction condition, participants were taught grammar and parts of speech to enhance vocabulary (Saddler & Graham, 2005). There were 5 units (verbs, nouns, adjectives, adverbs, subjects/predicates) taught similarly to the sentence combining condition with explicit instruction. Upon completion of the project, those students in the sentence combining condition improved in their story writing and were better at combining sentences into more complex sentences than students in the grammar instruction condition (Saddler & Graham, 2005).

In a 2012 meta-analysis, Graham et al. examined 115 studies that included 13 different writing interventions. They concluded that the need to provide students with explicit instruction in handwriting and writing strategies (including planning, drafting, and revising work) was supported by the literature. Graham et al. also noted that students from grades 1-3 benefited from being explicitly taught transcription skills such as spelling, handwriting, and keyboarding.

A series of scaffolding techniques also showed potential to improve writing in students (Graham et al., 2012). Scaffolding is a term first used by Jerome Bruner (1966), a cognitive psychologist who was interested in children's learning. His theory was that children could benefit from gradual assistance when learning a new skill until a time when they become independent and no longer need assistance. Much like scaffolding is used to support workers in

construction and then removed when no longer required, so too could supports be given to children to assist them in learning (Bruner, 1966). The application of this approach to learning to read and solve mathematical problems can similarly prove beneficial for handwriting and writing tasks. One scaffolding technique involved having students work together on activities involving writing. For students in grades 2-6, peer assistance ranged from helping one another with revising their written work, to generally helping each other throughout the writing process from start to finish. Results from such practices found improvements in the quality of written work. Assigning students in grades 2-6 pre-writing activities and making notes or drawing pictures prior to writing assignments also benefited students (Graham et al., 2012).

Specific methods of assessing and providing feedback about the handwriting and writing activities of students in grades 2-7 were also found to benefit their writing development (Graham et al., 2012). In some studies, students were taught to self-assess their writing ability, and in other research their peers were asked to provide the assessment and feedback. For other studies teachers or parents were tasked with determining the quality of the writing and providing suggestions for improvement. In general, students had better outcomes when adults, rather than students themselves or peers, were in the role of assessor (Graham et al., 2012). Graham et al. (2012) also found support for increasing the writing time allotted for students and introducing comprehensive writing programs.

To summarize, research findings support the idea that it is important to develop fluent handwriting to facilitate students' future success in other, more complex language arts activities. There have also been multiple cognitive processes associated with handwriting including attention (Peverly, 2006) and working memory (Tucha et al., 2008). While different processes may be involved with printing versus cursive writing, placing emphasis on teaching printing

before cursive writing is suggested by research (Graham, 2010). Finally, evidence based strategies are available to further develop students' handwriting abilities.

Chapter 2: A Summary of Evidence-Based Practices for the Effective Teaching of Handwriting in the Early Elementary Years

General Recommendations about Handwriting Instruction

General recommendations that are supported by research to be implemented in elementary classrooms include daily and frequent time devoted to teaching handwriting (Graham & Harris, 2002; Graham et al., 2008). Specifically, the large meta-analysis conducted by Graham et al. (2012) found that handwriting skills could be improved by increasing the amount of time that students wrote each day by as little as 15 extra minutes. Troia and Graham (2003) recommend providing handwriting instruction for between 75 and 100 minutes per week. Studies also support frequent, daily practice for short periods of time (Berninger at al., 1997; Graham et al., 2008), with one recommendation suggesting teaching for no longer than 5-10 minutes at a time (Berninger & Richards, 2002). The use of systematic and explicit instruction has also received widespread support, and is a key component of any handwriting curriculum (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). Additional general instruction in the form of guided practice, in which teachers allow for practice while giving oral directions, has been found to promote success (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002), as has providing consistent feedback (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003).

A Handwriting Curriculum

Research has shown that specific content areas are effective in increasing the handwriting skill of students. These include the explicit teaching of correct pencil grip and paper position (Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003), the teaching of letter formation and recognition (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham & Harris, 2002; Graham et al., 2008; Troia & Graham 2003), teaching with the goal of solidifying automaticity and fluency (Berninger et al.,

1997; Graham et al., 2008), and explicit and systematic teaching of sentence construction and sentence combining (Archer & Hughes, 2011; Datchuk & Kubina, 2012).

Research supports the explicit teaching of correct pencil grip and paper position (Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). Graham (2010) recommended that teachers encourage and demonstrate proper pencil grip so that students do not form a grip that is likely to result in discomfort or fatigue. Graham (2010) encouraged teachers to demonstrate and encourage students to use an effective and efficient pencil grip such as a tripod grip. With respect to paper position, Graham (2010) also recommended that right handed individuals be taught to place their page directly in front of them with the left side of the paper at the centre of the body. For left handed writers, Graham (2010) recommended that individuals hold their paper somewhat clockwise and hold their pencil slightly farther back from the tip than right handed individuals. Graham (2010) also noted that all of these skills should be modeled and encouraged by teachers. Early handwriters may further benefit from being provided with wide lined paper and adjusting this as the student progresses (Graham, 1992).

It is also important to be able to recognize and name letters and to be able to write letters when they are named (Berninger & Graham, 1998; Graham 2010). Such skills can be accomplished by naming each letter when it is initially practiced, and through an alphabetic practice game in which students write the letter that comes after a string of five ordered letters and then the letter that comes before them (Brooks, Vaughn, & Berninger, 1999).

Teaching letter formation is another area identified in the literature as being important in increasing handwriting efficiency (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham & Harris, 2002; Graham et al., 2008; Troia & Graham, 2003). Guided practice, in which teachers provide sheets of letters that can be traced, can be a very successful starting point (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris,

2002). Vander Hart et al. (2010) also suggested that teachers revisit alphabet letters with students periodically throughout the school year and model correct formation as a reminder. Research has also strongly supported the process of providing visual cues, such as numbered arrows, to aid in developing correct letter formation and construction because this allows students to clearly see the nature and the order of strokes involved in correct and efficient letter formation (Berninger et al., 1997; Datchuk & Kubina, 2012; Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). Memory retrieval tactics of having the student look at the letter, cover the letter, and then try to construct the letter from memory are also recommended (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham et al., 2008).

To promote the important skills of building of handwriting fluency and speed (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham et al., 2008), Datchuk and Kubina (2012) advised administering an alphabet or copy task, such as having students write the quick brown fox jumped over the lazy dog (a sentence that contains all of the letters in the alphabet) as many times as possible under a timed constraint. Another method that could be used is to have the student produce the same letter as many times as possible under timed conditions in order to monitor students' progress towards becoming automatic and fluent writers (Alston & Taylor, 1987). Graham (2010) also suggested choosing a short paragraph from a grade-level book and having students spend ninety seconds copying the text. He further advised that additional handwriting instruction may be required for a student in the first, second, or third grade who produce below 7, 13, and 14 letters respectively (Graham, 2010). For grade one teaching specifically, Graham and Harris (2000) have devised the CASL (Center on Accelerating Student Learning) Handwriting Program which provides guidance for teacher-friendly effective instruction, includes all key content areas previously mentioned, and is available for free online.

Within the area of sentence construction and composition, evidence-based research strongly supports the use of explicit and systematic instruction (Archer & Hughes, 2011; Datchuk & Kubina, 2012). One effective method is a model-lead-test approach (Archer & Hughes, 2011) whereby teachers model sentence construction using picture-word prompts, students verbally describe the picture, students obtain feedback from the teacher, and the student transcribes correct sentence constructions into writing. With sentence combining, teacher modeling of combining sentences with adjectives, underlined phrases, and conjunctions as well as creating a peer-assisted learning environment where students provide feedback to one another, were shown to be helpful in several studies highlighted in Datchuk and Kubina's (2012) meta-analysis. Additionally, Saddler (2013) advocated for a learn-see-do approach to sentence combining in which teachers model how and why sentence combinations are made, use scaffold practice in which they guide students to develop solutions to a problem, and allow for independent practice where students create solutions to a problem which are then discussed and evaluated by the whole class.

Despite a significant body of research which provides information about how to effectively teach handwriting skills, evidence exists that these practices are not always implemented. Vander Hart et al. (2010) examined the handwriting teaching practices of teachers in four kindergarten classes to evaluate whether the teaching approaches were aligned with evidence-based research. The authors looked at the handwriting curriculum and recorded instructional practices at various points during the school year. Handwriting samples of the students were also obtained at several points. In addition, teachers completed a survey about the instructional techniques that they used when teaching handwriting at the beginning, middle, and end of the school year. The survey also asked teachers to rate the importance of several

evidence-based instructional practices and the amount of time devoted to handwriting teaching (Vander Hart et al., 2010). Teachers also completed a handwriting instruction log during a one-week period at the beginning, middle, and end of the school year and participated in interviews with the researchers. Researchers spent time observing classrooms to identify evidence-based practices being implemented in the classroom and to compare this data to teacher self-report.

Lastly, student handwriting samples were obtained by researchers using a copy task and an alphabet task. These samples were compared to report card grading (Vander Hart et al., 2010). The authors concluded that teachers implemented some effective strategies but that improvement could be made within the areas of daily explicit instruction, handwriting fluency, handwriting from memory, and self-monitoring. The authors further determined that teaching quality and the learning of handwriting skills suffered due to the lower level of emphasis on implementing these practices.

When to begin Teaching Handwriting

Graham, Harris, and Larsen (2001) stated that, without a doubt, the best way to prevent writing difficulties is to begin implementing evidence-based instruction in kindergarten and grade one. The authors noted that this is advantageous because it will help maximize children's writing development, will minimize the number of children who struggle with writing due to poor instruction, and will also help those children whose writing problems are not a result of instruction but are due to other factors such as a learning disability. Vander Hart et al. (2010) highlighted that handwriting instruction is expected to be a part of a kindergarten curriculum. Specifically, children in this grade are expected to be introduced to printing, to be able to independently form a number of uppercase and lowercase letters, to be able to write their first and last names, and to be able to order sentences by the end of the year (Edwards, 2003;

Massachusetts Department of Education, 2001; Snow, Burns, & Griffin, 1998; as cited in VanderHart et al., 2010). Graham (1992) asserted that children need to learn correct letter formation early, as it is very difficult to unlearn motor skills.

Despite a substantial body of research focusing on content and methods that should be included in handwriting curricula, Phelps and Stempel (1989) hypothesized that teachers may have difficulty implementing evidence-based practice when teaching handwriting because they have not received strong training in this area. This statement is supported by findings of Graham et al. (2008) who surveyed teachers in grades primary to three and found that teachers did not have a solid understanding of the development of handwriting and displayed mistaken beliefs in what they thought was effective instruction. In addition to this, only 39% of teachers in this study described their students' handwriting as being adequate and teachers reported that less than half of their students were able to handwrite quickly enough to keep up with classroom tasks. Since the beliefs and practices of teachers typically may not align with suggested handwriting instruction, it is necessary to review the curriculum materials provided to teachers to determine the focus.

Chapter 3: The Nova Scotia English Language Arts Curriculum

The Nova Scotia English Language Arts curriculum (Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development [NSDEECD], 2015a) is a document which presents the department's expectations for the teaching of handwriting content and methods. Just recently revised, this guide has been provided to teachers for use in schools starting in September 2015. The document was provided to those who were invited to attend a workshop in the spring of 2015, but unlike other curriculum documents, the new Language Arts curriculum is not currently available on the Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development's website. This new Language Arts curriculum, which will be discussed in this section, will hereafter be referred to as *the Language Arts curriculum* or, more simply, as *the curriculum*. In a media release, the Minister of Education and Early Childhood Development stated that the new Language Arts curriculum is comprised of two-thirds fewer learning outcomes than the old curriculum (Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development, 2015b).

The new curriculum has a number of general curriculum outcomes for each grade and specific performance indicators that highlight key features and narrows the focus of teaching (Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development, 2015a). The outcomes for the Language Arts curriculum are largely focused on reading, speaking, listening, and viewing. The outcomes for writing are not grouped together in any specific fashion. Rather, they are scattered in amongst other Language Arts outcomes.

The first writing outcome presented is "Outcome 6: Students will convey meaning by creating print and digital texts collaboratively and independently using imagination, personal experiences, and feelings" (NSDEECD, 2015a). For grade primary, specific performance

indicators within this general outcome state that students are expected to understand that print carries a message; to play with words and sounds to express an idea; to begin to label some drawings to explain some ideas/topics; and to begin to understand readers'/listeners' comments to clarify meaning. For grade one, specific performance indicators in Outcome 6 include an understanding that writing and other forms of representing convey meaning; to express ideas in complete thoughts; to label drawings to explain ideas/topics; and to understand readers'/listeners' comments to clarify meaning. Performance indicators for students in grade two state that they will be able to express ideas in complete thoughts using simple and compound sentences; label drawings to explain ideas/topics; and to understand and begin to use readers'/listeners' comments to clarify meaning (NSDEECD, 2015a).

The next writing focused outcome is "Outcome 7: Students will be expected to use writing and other forms of representation including digital to explore, clarify, and reflect on their thoughts, feelings, experiences, and learning" (NSDEECD, 2015a). For grade primary, specific performance indicators state that students are to be able to write, using drawings, combinations of letters with some sound associations and known words to talk about their writing or reading the text they wrote; to begin to talk about word choice; and to create and record questions in print or digital format. For grade one, specific performance indicators within Outcome 7 state that students are expected to be able to write, using drawings, combination of letters with some sound associations and known words, a variety of poetry, fiction, and non-fiction texts to explain thinking, feelings, and ideas; to record experiences and personal opinions in both print and/or digital format; to inform and communicate information; to be able to begin to explain the purpose for their writing; to begin to make decisions about word choice for specific reasons-concrete nouns, precise verbs, description; and to create print and digital texts (draw or write)

with a beginning, middle, and end. Under Outcome 7 for grade two, performance indicators state that students are expected to write a variety of poetry, fiction, and non-fiction texts; to explain the purpose for their writing; make decisions about word choice for specific reasons - concrete nouns, accurate verbs, description etc.; create and record questions both in print and/or digital format; write in both print and/or digital format an organized text with a beginning, middle, and end; begin to select appropriate print and/or digital graphic organizers from several options; and recognize differing points of view in own writing and the writing of others (NSDEECD, 2015a).

The next outcome that involves writing is "Outcome 8: Students will be expected to create text, including digital, collaboratively and independently using a variety of forms for a range of audiences and purposes" (NSDEECD, 2015a). For grade primary, performance indicators include identifying audiences for some of their writing; to explain the reason for their writing; and to work with a partner, in small groups, and independently to create writing (e.g. lists, notes, stories, poems). For grade one, performance indicators state that students are able to identify different forms of print and digital writing that are appropriate to specific purposes and audiences, identify print and digital information that is relevant and purposeful for an intended audience; and work with a partner, in small groups, and independently to create writing in both print and digital format. In grade two, students are to begin to choose forms of writing that are appropriate to specific purposes and audiences; begin to include information that is relevant and purposeful for an intended audience; and to work with a partner, in small groups, and independently to create writing (NSDEECD, 2015a).

Additional Provincial Documents

The focus of the curriculum is largely on the content of what is expected from the outcomes, rather than teaching methods. Another teacher focused document, Teaching in Action,

Grades Primary-3, (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006), offers some suggestions on how teachers can help children achieve writing goals and refers to strategies such as explicit teaching, modelling, scaffolding, and working in groups; however, specific teaching guidance within these domains is not the focus. This document, much like the new Language Arts curriculum, emphasizes the writing process and the development of written composition skills across grades. The Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document supports modelling and scaffolding of how to write various forms of text (nonfiction, fiction, poetry), and notes that the teacher may need to provide a high level of scaffolding and modelling in written composition if the student is not progressing.

Related to the development and implementation of the new Language Arts curriculum, the government of Nova Scotia also published Nova Scotia's Action Plan for Education (Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development [NSDEECD], 2015c). The document mentions a number of key initiatives, one of which is to "teach reading, writing, and speaking skills across subject areas so that students may develop stronger communication skills" (NSDEECD, 2015c, p.23). This document notes that the new Language Arts curriculum will aim to provide students with increased instructional time for learning spelling, punctuation, and the formation of sentences and paragraphs. The Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document is also supportive of the notion that teachers should aid developing writers so that students feel successful with writing stating that "with emergent writers the teacher is often the scribe, typing or copying the student's work, so he or she can have the satisfaction of a professional looking product to celebrate" (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006, p.8).

Chapter 4: Comparing the Nova Scotia Curriculum to the Research

The purpose of this chapter is to use the summary of evidence-based handwriting research from Chapter 2 to examine the new Language Arts curriculum. Specifically, it will examine whether curriculum content evidence-based practices recommended in research are components of the new curriculum.

General Recommendations about Handwriting Instruction

Research supports daily and frequent time devoted to teaching handwriting (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham & Harris, 2002; Graham et al., 2008; Graham et al., 2012; Troia & Graham, 2003). Increasing the amount of handwriting time by as little as 15 minutes per day can improve handwriting skills (Graham et al., 2012), and Troia and Graham (2003) have recommended providing handwriting instruction for 75 to 100 minutes per week (Troia & Graham, 2003). While there is no mention of providing daily and frequent time devoted to teaching handwriting in the new Language Arts curriculum, there is mention of providing more writing time in the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document. Specifically, the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) states that, as an educational system, we need "regular scheduled time for writing" and "ample time for writing so students can practice and understand the connection between word study and real writing." There is no specific guidance or clarification with respect to frequency or length of time that should be devoted to handwriting instruction.

Another practice widely supported by research is the use of systematic and explicit instruction (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). The new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) does not mention these principles in the outcomes. The Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education,

2006) mentions teaching explicitly with respect to teaching the different forms of writing (narrative, expository, descriptive, persuasive), and to provide "explicit instruction on text features and their purposes, in reading and in writing (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006, p. 47) but makes no specific mention of teaching beginning handwriting skills explicitly and/or systematically.

Two final general recommendations provided in the research are the use of guided practice, in which teachers allow for practice while giving oral directions (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002), and providing consistent feedback (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). The new curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) does not make mention of these practices. The Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document does, however, state that scaffolding support should be provided through demonstration and shared and guided practice, and suggests that teachers work with students in groups or individually with monitoring of each individual's strengths and needs. The final general recommendation of providing consistent feedback (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris; Troia & Graham, 2003) is not mentioned in the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) but is mentioned multiple times in the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document. The document suggests that teachers should provide feedback whether the student is working in a group setting or independently.

A Handwriting Curriculum

The literature highlights a number of specific content areas that should be focused on when teaching early handwriting skills. Two practices supported by research are the explicit teaching of correct pencil grip and proper paper position (Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). Graham (2010) recommended that teachers encourage and model how to

properly grip a pencil using an effective grip (e.g., the tripod grip). With respect to paper position, Graham (2010) recommended that, for right-handed students, teachers model and encourage placing the page directly in front of them with the left side of the paper at the centre of the body. For left-handed individuals, Graham (2010) recommended that teachers model and encourage holding the paper somewhat clockwise while also having students hold their pencil slightly farther back from the tip than right-handed individuals. Providing wide-lined paper is also deemed as being useful for beginning handwriters (Graham, 1992). None of these practices are mentioned in either the new curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a), or the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document.

The recognition and naming of letters and being able to write letters when they are named are other important curriculum content supported in the literature (Berninger & Graham, 1998; Graham, 2010). These skills can be developed by associating a name with each letter when it is initially being written, and by an alphabetic practice game where students are given a string of five ordered letters and then asked to write the letter that comes before the string and after the string (Brooks, Vaughn, & Berninger, 1999). Neither of these skills are mentioned in either the new curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a), or the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document.

Teaching letter formation is an additional evidence-based practice identified in the literature (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham & Harris, 2002; Graham et al., 2008; Troia & Graham, 2003). Guided practice is understood to be a successful starting point, whereby teachers provide sheets of letters that can be traced (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002). Providing visual cues, such as numbered arrows, aids in helping to develop correct letter formation as students are able to clearly see the nature and order of strokes involved (Berninger et al., 1997;

Datchuk & Kubina, 2012; Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003). Memory retrieval tactics of having the student look at a letter, cover the letter, and then reproduce the letter from memory is also supported (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham et al., 2008). Another body of research also suggests that teachers periodically revisit letters previously taught and model correct formation as a reminder (Vander Hart et al., 2010). As previously mentioned, guided practice is listed as a general practice recommended to be included when teaching writing in the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006). However, there is no mention of teaching letter formation in either the new Language Arts curriculum or the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document.

Developing handwriting fluency and speed are other important skills that research suggests are important when teaching handwriting (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham et al., 2008). This can be aided by administering an alphabet or copy task, whereby students write a sentence that contains all the letters in the alphabet as many times as possible under timed constraints (Datchuk & Kubina, 2012), or by writing the same letter as often as possible under timed constraints (Alston & Taylor, 1987). These methods help teachers to monitor students' progress towards becoming automatic and fluent writers. These techniques can also be used to identify students who need further handwriting support (Graham, 2010). There is no outcome within the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) which focuses on building handwriting fluency and speed, nor is there mention of this in the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document, apart from a mention that, eventually, students should become fluent writers.

Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) mentions some of the general recommendations that are supported by evidence-based research.

These include the importance of devoting significant time to writing in classrooms and a mention of explicitly teaching some writing concepts. The importance of guided practice and scaffolding along with providing consistent feedback to students on their performance are also highlighted. It is important to note, however, that these components are mentioned in the context of developing written composition skills rather than handwriting skills. No general recommendations to assist with developing handwriting skills are provided.

In terms of providing specific handwriting content to be taught, neither the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) nor the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document include any recommendations for content to be included when developing handwriting skills. Consequently, the method for how to teach these research-supported content areas to develop handwriting skills is also absent from both the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) and the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document. Thus, teachers and other educational personnel are left without direction about what specific handwriting skills to teach children and which explicit strategies would be helpful to use in the development of handwriting skills.

Chapter 5: Recommendations and Implications

After reviewing the literature with respect to evidence-based practices for teaching handwriting as well as the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) and the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document, it is possible to conclude that the curriculum mentions some general recommendations that are supported by research with respect to teaching written composition, but that no information exists with respect to teaching handwriting in either document. These existing problems with the curriculum have implications for professionals (e.g., teachers and school psychologists) working in the education system.

Curriculum Recommendations

General Recommendations about Handwriting Instruction. In terms of general recommendations for developing students' handwriting skills, it is evident through examination of the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) and the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) that there is a focus on the development of written composition skills but no mention of developing handwriting skills in either document. The Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) mentions the general evidence-based practices of increasing the amount of handwriting instructional and practice time, along with recommending that teachers teach explicitly. What is not provided in this document or in the Language Arts curriculum is guidance with respect to the frequency and length of time that is suggested for handwriting instruction and practice. Nor are there practice and guidance activities listed with respect to the explicit and systematic teaching of handwriting. It would be beneficial for the curriculum to provide more guidance within these areas, and to suggest that handwriting instruction be provided to students

for between 75 to 100 minutes per week, based on the recommendation of Troia and Graham (2003). The curriculum should also consider highlighting that handwriting lessons and practice should be implemented daily and need not last for longer than ten minutes at a time (Berninger et al., 1997; Graham et al., 2008). A focus on explicit and systematic instruction within the area of developing beginning handwriting skills is also recommended (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003).

Other general evidence-based practices of providing guided practice and scaffolding, and providing feedback to students with respect to composing and understanding different kinds of texts, are described in the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006). This same method of providing guided practice can be implemented for teaching beginning handwriting skills, where teachers give oral directions and allow for practice (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002). The Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 document (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) highlights the importance of providing feedback to students both individually and in groups. This practice is also supported in the literature (Graham et al., 2008; Graham & Harris, 2002; Troia & Graham, 2003) and should be encouraged.

A Handwriting Curriculum – Recommendations for Content and Methods. No mention of any of the specific evidence-based content and teaching methods identified in research as being important for handwriting development (see Chapter 2) is made in either the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) or Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006). The recommendations about evidence-based content and methods from research include the explicit and systematic teaching of proper paper positioning and proper pencil grip; explicitly teaching letter recognition and letter formation; and

teaching with the goal of solidifying automaticity and fluency. Studies have provided evidence that students are not handwriting very well and that more than half of students are not handwriting quickly enough to keep up with the demands of the classroom (e.g., Graham et al., 2008). Furthermore it has been evidenced that those who do not learn how to properly form letters early will struggle to unlearn these mistakes later on (Graham 1992). Given the crucial connection between learning basic handwriting skills and future composition ability (Alston & Taylor, 1987; Graham et al., 1997; Mather & Roberts, 1995), it cannot be understated how important it is for curricula to contain outcomes that focus on receiving instruction within the areas of proper paper positioning and proper pencil grip; letter recognition and letter formation; and to develop automaticity and fluency in their handwriting so that deficiencies within these areas are not progressively more detrimental to students.

A variety of effective techniques to support teaching these content areas are described in the research (see Chapter 2), and it is strongly recommended that information about these techniques be made available to teachers. The importance of making this information available to teachers is supported by Graham et al. (2008) who found that teachers in grades primary to three did not have a solid understanding of effective handwriting teaching practices. Neither the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) nor the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document offers support for teachers in how to teach proper paper positioning and proper pencil grip; how to recognize letters and form letters; and how to develop automaticity and fluency in handwriting. Having these methods structured in a document that is easily accessible to teachers would be of benefit to both teachers as well as their students.

Recommendations for Future Teacher Documents. Currently, it is necessary to view curricular outcomes from the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) and then search for effective teaching strategies to teach these outcomes from another document such as the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3, (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006). The fact that this information that must be used together needs to be found in multiple places unnecessarily complicates the process of using the curriculum for teachers. Therefore, it is suggested that in future curricular publications, evidence-based practices with respect to learning handwriting be combined with curriculum based content outcomes within a single document that teachers can refer to more easily.

Finally, this combined document should also place emphasis on including evidence-based handwriting instruction for students beginning in grade primary. This will maximize children's writing development, minimize the number of children who struggle with handwriting due to poor instruction, and help identify students with difficulties that are not due to poor instruction (Graham et al, 2001).

Recommendations for Teachers

It is evident that the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) and supportive documents such as the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006) document have several shortcomings that can have implications for both preservice teachers and in-service teachers. These documents only emphasize teaching written composition and completely omit mention of instruction in developing beginning handwriting skills which are crucial to the development of strong written composition skills. With this emphasis on written composition, pre-service teachers may understandably underestimate the importance of focusing on beginning handwriting skills. Therefore Bachelor of Education

programs might need to place more emphasis on teaching pre-service teachers about the importance of developing handwriting skills and the evidence-based practices that support these teachings. Research supports the importance of including specific training about teaching handwriting in Bachelor of Education programs. Phelps and Stempel (1989) found that teachers do not receive strong training in teaching handwriting, and Graham et al. (2008) noted that teachers had mistaken beliefs about what they believed to be effective handwriting instruction.

It may also be helpful to pre-service teachers for Bachelor of Education programs to include discussion of evidence-based findings about handwriting instruction from research. One example of an important finding that would support pre-service teachers' development of an understanding of the importance of handwriting instruction is that the level of automaticity and fluency in handwriting that a student has attained, is highly related to how well they later perform with written composition (Medwell & Wray, 2014; Wicki et al., 2014). Another example would be the Peverly et al. (2014) study which found that the lower level tasks of planning and motor movements consume valuable cognitive energy that strains working memory and negatively affects a person's ability to produce longer pieces of written composition. Preservice teachers may also benefit from being exposed to literature which links handwriting practice to the ability to recognize letters of the alphabet (James & Engelhardt, 2012; Longcamp et al., 2005) along with the neuroimaging evidence that shows activation of a brain area known to be involved in letter processing and reading when people engage in handwriting (Flowers et al., 2004; Garrett et al., 2000; Schlagger & McCandliss, 2007). If pre-service teachers are exposed to this information in their training it may help them to understand the importance of teaching handwriting as it relates to written composition and other areas of learning such as reading.

In-service teachers would also benefit from receiving information with regard to the importance of teaching handwriting. Again, this conclusion is supported by research which has found that teachers do not receive strong training in teaching handwriting (Phelps & Stempel, 1989) and that they often had mistaken beliefs about effective handwriting instruction (Graham et al., 2008). This information may best be relayed through workshops or presentations conducted in schools or at the school board level.

Anecdotally, however, there is evidence to suggest that some school boards are placing more emphasis on developing handwriting skills despite the limitations of current teaching documents. For instance, Handwriting Without Tears (Olsen, 2008) is one handwriting program that is being used in some areas and could be promoted more for use in additional schools. Other evidence-based resources are easily available. One example is Graham and Harris' (2000) handwriting program which provides evidence-based practices across handwriting content areas specifically for grade one and is available for free online. Furthermore, both pre-service and inservice teachers could be provided with knowledge about the usefulness of administering an alphabet or copy task to students periodically and its importance in monitoring students' progress toward becoming automatic and fluent writers (Alston & Taylor, 1987; Datchuk & Kubina, 2012; Graham, 2010).

Implications for School Psychologists

The lack of emphasis on teaching handwriting in the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) also has implications for the practice of school psychologists. Specifically, school psychologists are faced with challenges within the areas of assessment, diagnosis, and the recommendations that they provide for students struggling with handwriting.

Assessment and Diagnosis. School psychologists in Nova Scotia currently use the Learning Disabilities Association of Canada (LDAC) definition when assessing for learning disabilities. Difficulty with writing (and handwriting) could be one reason why a student would be referred by school personnel for a psycho-educational assessment. An important component of the diagnostic criteria for learning disabilities is the requirement that an academic weakness (e.g., poor handwriting and/or writing skills) cannot be primarily due to what LDAC terms ineffective (or lack of) teaching (LDAC, 2003). Given that poor handwriting is related to poor overall academic performance (Alston & Taylor, 1997; Mather & Roberts, 1995) and that poor handwriting skills are related to poor written composition skills (Graham et al., 1997), and that teachers may be unprepared to teach handwriting effectively (Graham et al., 2008; Phelps & Stempel, 1989), it might be hard for school psychologists to know whether students with handwriting and/or written composition difficulties have had sufficient handwriting instruction. The extent to which instruction has been provided must be explored; because it would be inappropriate to diagnose a learning disability when the cause of poor performance in an academic area is that a student has not had sufficient opportunity to learn.

Perhaps for this reason it is recommended, on the suggestion of Berninger and Wagner (2008), that school psychologists directly observe students during instruction and interview teachers about the curriculum and teachers' accompanying teaching methods. Furthermore, it may be helpful or even necessary for school psychologists to interview previous teachers of a student who is being assessed for handwriting or writing difficulties since various studies have highlighted the impact of not implementing evidence-based instruction in handwriting in kindergarten and grade one (Graham, 1992; Graham et al., 2001; Vander Hart et al., 2010).

The tools which are used by school psychologists may also need to be taken into consideration when there is uncertainty of prior instruction received by a student. One of the most common tools used in a psycho-educational assessment when handwriting or writing difficulties are being investigated is the Beery-Buktenica Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration (VMI; Beery, 2006). Research is supportive of the relationship between performance on the VMI and handwriting legibility and speed in students in grades one to nine (Cornhill & Case-Smith, 1996; Tseng & Murray, 1994; Weintraub & Graham, 2000). Other research has found that the ability to copy the first nine forms of the VMI demonstrates that a student is ready for formal instruction in writing (Benbow, Hanft, & Marsh, 1992; Weil & Amundson, 1994). These first nine forms include a vertical line, horizontal line, circle, cross, square, left diagonal line, right diagonal line, triangle, and an X (Beery, 2006). What is important for school psychologists to investigate is whether poor performance on this assessment protocol is due to a cognitive processing deficit (generally the assumption) or due to the student not having had sufficient teaching and practice with handwriting. The same difficulties arise when using other standardized tools such as the Process Assessment of the Learner – Second Edition: Diagnostics for Reading and Writing (PAL II; Berninger, 2007) which includes an alphabet writing task. Such challenges for school psychologists further highlight the importance of interviewing current and previous teachers of a student of concern and of using direct observation of students during instruction in addition to administering these standardized measures.

Implications for School Psychologist Report Recommendations. The benefits of developing handwriting skills are clear from the literature, with possible links to higher levels of processing (Muller & Oppenheimer, 2014) and possible links to letter recognition and reading (James & Engelhardt, 2012; Longcamp et al., 2005). Such gains are not typically seen with

keyboarding instruction (Longcamp et al., 2005; Mueller & Oppenheimer, 2014). Yet, it is recognized that keyboarding skills play an important role in society at the present and in the future; however, research is less conclusive about the best time to begin keyboarding instruction. Berninger and Richards (2002) advocated for instruction in keyboarding by the first grade, but others have suggested later elementary (Freeman, MacKinnon, & Miller, 2005). The lack of conclusive research on optimal grades for keyboarding instruction leaves the school psychologist without a firm reference point to make recommendations about keyboarding as either an adaptation or accommodation for individuals who struggle with handwriting.

A common recommendation for students who have handwriting difficulties is that they be able to use a computer when they write (Freeman, MacKinnon, & Miller, 2005). Allowing an individual who struggles with handwriting to use a computer does not necessarily result in faster writing or in the production of more written work (Berninger et al., 2009). Berninger et al. (2009) highlighted that without providing explicit instruction in keyboarding and the writing process using this tool, a computer may not be a useful strategy for working around transcription problems. School psychologists will be faced with deciding whether to recommend that students be explicitly taught using evidence-based techniques in keyboarding or to advocate that a student receive more intervention and practice developing handwriting skills using the same techniques that may not have been provided initially. Based on the fact that handwriting instruction is not currently included in the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a), school psychologists in Nova Scotia should strongly consider initially recommending more support to develop handwriting skills.

Limitations and Future Research

The current manuscript focused on handwriting outcomes and teaching methods recommended in the new Language Arts curriculum in Nova Scotia and accessible supporting teaching documents. A limitation of this manuscript is that the exploration of the curriculum was limited to the content of the new Language Arts curriculum (NSDEECD, 2015a) and supportive documents such as the Teaching in Action, Grades Primary-3 (Nova Scotia Department of Education, 2006). Discussions with educational personnel to determine what handwriting practices they implement (i.e., how the curriculum is implemented in classrooms), could be explored within Nova Scotia schools and could help in obtaining further knowledge of supporting resources that may or may not be needed.

Future research could explore the status of evidence-based handwriting instruction in other provinces through an examination of relevant provincial curriculum documents. Future research could also focus on the role of keyboarding, including determining a preferred time to offer instruction to students in keyboarding so as not to impede their handwriting development. School psychologists could also be surveyed to determine which assessment measures they prefer to use for the assessment of handwriting and to gather information with respect to the difficulties that they might experience when assessing children who struggle with handwriting. Lastly, more research with teachers to determine their views with respect to focusing on the teaching of handwriting skills to students would be of benefit to the literature and to inform teacher training and teaching practices.

Conclusion

The potential cognitive and academic benefits of learning to handwrite shows that handwriting is still an important skill that is worthy of significant attention in schools today.

More widespread promotion and awareness of the positive implications that learning to handwrite have on students is important in reversing the current trend (easily detected in the current Nova Scotia Language Arts curriculum) to de-emphasizing teaching handwriting skills. While keyboarding skills are also valuable to learn, it is important that a focus on this skill does not take the place of evidence-based teaching in handwriting. Administrators, teachers, and other educational professionals need to be mindful of the limitations currently displayed by the Nova Scotia Language Arts curriculum within the area of teaching handwriting and the possible consequences that this might have for the development of written composition and other academic areas.

References

- Archer, A., & Hughes, C. (2011). *Explicit instruction: Effective and efficient teaching*. NY: Guilford Publications.
- Baddeley, A. (2000). The episodic buffer: A new component of working memory? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4(11), 417–423.
- Beery, K. E. (1989). *Developmental test of visual-motor integration (3rd rev)*. Cleveland, OH: Modern Curriculum Press.
- Beery, K. E. (2006) The Beery-Buktenica developmental test of visual motor integration for children and adults: Administration, scoring, and teaching manual, 6th edition.

 Minneapolis, MN: NCS Pearson.
- Benbow, M., Hanft, B., & Marsh, D. (1992). Lesson 5 handwriting in the classroom: Improving written communication. In C. Royeen (Ed.), AOTA self-study series: Classroom applications for school-based practice. Rockville, MD: American Occupational Therapy Association.
- Berninger, V. W. (1999). Coordinating transcription and text generation in working memory during composing: Automatic and constructive processes. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 22(2), 99–112. doi: 10.2307/1511269
- Berninger, V. W. (2007). *The process assessment of the learner Second Edition*. San Antonio: Psychological Corporation.
- Berninger, V. W., Abbott, R. D., Augsburger, A., & Garcia, N. (2009). Comparison of pen and keyboard transcription modes in children with and without learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 32(3), 123–141.

- Berninger, V. W., Abbott, R. D., Jones, J., Wolf, B. J., Gould, L., Anderson-Youngstrom, M., ... Apel, K. (2006). Early development of language by hand: Composing, reading, listening, and speaking connections; three letter-writing modes; and fast mapping in spelling.

 *Developmental Neuropsychology, 29(1), 61–92. doi: 10.1207/s15326942dn2901_5
- Berninger, W. W., & Graham, S. (1998). Language by hand: A synthesis of a decade of research on handwriting. *Handwriting Review*, 12, 11-25.
- Berninger, V. W., & Richards, T. L. (2002). *Brain literacy for educators and psychologists*. San Diego, CA, US: Academic Press.
- Berninger, V. W., Vaughan, K. B., Abbott, R. D., Abbott, S. P., Rogan, L. W., Brooks, A., ... Graham, S. (1997). Treatment of handwriting problems in beginning writers: Transfer from handwriting to composition. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89(4), 652–666. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.89.4.652
- Berninger, V., & Wagner, R. (2008). Best practices for school psychology assessment and intervention in reading and writing. In A. Thomas and J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best Practices in School Psychology* (Vol. V, pp. 1205-1220). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Berninger, V., Yates, C., Cartwright, A., Rutberg, J., Remy, E., & Abbott, R. (1992). Lower-level developmental skills in beginning writing. *Reading and Writing*, *4*(3), 257–280. doi: 10.1007/BF01027151
- Brooks, A., Vaughan, K., & Berninger, V. (1999). Tutorial interventions for writing disabilities:

 Comparison of transcription and text generation processes. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 22(3), 183–190. doi: 2307/1511285
- Bruner, J. S. (1966). *Toward a theory of instruction*, Cambridge, Mass.: Belkapp Press.

- Bui, Y. N., Schumaker, J. B., & Deshler, D. D. (2006). The effects of a strategic writing program for students with and without learning disabilities in inclusive fifth-grade classes.

 Learning Disabilities Research & Practice, 21(4), 244–260. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5826.2006.00221.x
- Cornhill, H., & Case-Smith, J. (1996). Factors that relate to good and poor handwriting. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 50(9), 732–739.
- Coltheart, M., Rasile, K., Perry, C., Langdon, R., & Ziegler, J. (2001). DRC: A dual route cascaded model of visual word recognition and reading aloud. *Psychological Review*, 108(1), 204–256.
- Connor, C. M., Morrison, F. J., Fishman, B. J., Ponitz, C. C., Glasney, S., Underwood, P. S., ... Schatschneider, C. (2009). The ISI classroom observation system: Examining the literacy instruction provided to individual students. *Educational Researcher*, *38*(2), 85–99. doi: 10.3102/0013189X09332373
- Cutler, L., & Graham, S. (2008). Primary grade writing instruction: A national survey. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 100(4), 907–919. doi: 10.1037/a0012656
- Datchuk, S. M., & Kubina, R. M. (2013). A review of teaching sentence-level writing skills to students with writing difficulties and learning disabilities. *Remedial and Special Education*, *34*(3), 180–192. doi: 10.1177/0741932512448254
- Dehaene, S. (2011). The massive impact of literacy on the brain and its consequences for education. *Human Neuroplasticity and Education*.
- Deno, S. L., Martson, D., & Mirkin, P. (1982). Valid measurement procedures for continuous evaluation of written expression. *Exceptional Children*, 48, 368-371.

- Dinehart, L. H. (2015). Handwriting in early childhood education: Current research and future implications. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, *15*(1), 97–118. doi: 10.1177/1468798414522825
- Edwards, L. (2003). Writing instruction in kindergarten: Examining an emerging area of research for children with writing and reading difficulties. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *36*(2), 136.
- Feder, K. P., & Majnemer, A. (2007). Handwriting development, competency, and intervention.

 *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 49(4), 312–317. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2007.00312.x
- Flowers, D. L., Jones, K., Noble, K., VanMeter, J., Zeffiro, T. A., Wood, F. B., & Eden, G. F. (2004). Attention to single letters activates left extrastriate cortex. *NeuroImage*, *21*(3), 829–839. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.10.002
- Fredembach, B., de Boisferon, A. H., & Gentaz, E. (2009). Learning of arbitrary association between visual and auditory novel stimuli in adults: The "bond effect" of haptic exploration. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(3), e4844. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004844
- Freeman, A. R., MacKinnon, J. R., & Miller, L. T. (2005). Keyboarding for students with handwriting problems: A literature review. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics*, 25(1-2), 119–147.
- Garrett, A. S., Flowers, D. L., Absher, J. R., Fahey, F. H., Gage, H. D., Keyes, J. W., ... Wood, F. B. (2000). Cortical activity related to accuracy of letter recognition. *NeuroImage*, *11*(2), 111–123. doi:10.1006/nimg.1999.0528

- Grabowski, J. (2010). Speaking, writing, and memory span in children: Output modality affects cognitive performance. *International Journal of Psychology*, 45(1), 28–39. doi:10.1080/00207590902914051
- Graham, S. (1992). Issues in handwriting instruction. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, *25*(2), 1–14.
- Graham, S. (2010). Want to improve children's writing? Don't neglect their handwriting.

 Education Digest: Essential Readings Condensed for Quick Review, 76(1), 49–55.
- Graham, S., Berninger, V. W., Abbott, R. D., Abbott, S. P., & Whitaker, D. (1997). Role of mechanics in composing of elementary school students: A new methodological approach. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89(1), 170–182. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.89.1.170
- Graham, S., Berninger, V., Weintraub, N., & Schafer, W. (1998). Development of handwriting speed and legibility in grades 1-9. *Journal of Educational Research*, 92(1), 42–52.
- Graham, S., & R. Harris, K. (2000). The role of self-regulation and transcription skills in writing and writing development. *Educational Psychologist*, *35*(1), 3–12.
- Graham, S., Harris, K. R., & Fink, B. (2000). Is handwriting causally related to learning to write?

 Treatment of handwriting problems in beginning writers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(4), 620–33.
- Graham, S., Harris, K. R., & Larsen, L. (2001). Prevention and intervention of writing difficulties for students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 16(2), 74.
- Graham, S., MacArthur, C. A., & Fitzgerald, J. (Eds.). (2013). *Best practices in writing instruction* (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.

- Graham, S., McKeown, D., Kiuhara, S., & Harris, K. R. (2012). A meta-analysis of writing instruction for students in the elementary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 104(4), 879–896. doi:10.1037/a0029185
- Graham, S., & Perin, D. (2007). Writing next: Effective strategies to improve writing of adolescents in middle and high schools A report to Carnegie Corporation of New York.

 Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education
- Hammill, D. D., & Larsen, S. C. (1996). Test of Written Language (3rd ed.). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- James, K. H., & Engelhardt, L. (2012). The effects of handwriting experience on functional brain development in pre-literate children. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education*, *1*(1), 32–42. doi:10.1016/j.tine.2012.08.001
- Kellogg, R. T. (1987). Effects of topic knowledge on the allocation of processing time and cognitive effort to writing processes. *Memory & Cognition*, *15*(3), 256–266. doi:10.3758/BF03197724
- Kim, Y. S., Al Otaiba, S., Puranik, C., Folsom, J. S., Greulich, L., & Wagner, R. K. (2011).
 Componential skills of beginning writing: An exploratory study. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21(5), 517–525. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2011.06.004
- Learning Disabilities Association of Canada (2003). Official definition of learning disabilities.

 Retrieved from: http://www.ldac-acta.ca/en/learn-more/ld-defined/official-definition-of-learning-disabilities.html
- Limpo, T., Alves, R. A., & Fidalgo, R. (2014). Children's high-level writing skills: Development of planning and revising and their contribution to writing quality. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84(2), 177–193. doi:10.1111/bjep.12020

- Longcamp, M., Zerbato-Poudou, M. T., & Velay, J. L. (2005). The influence of writing practice on letter recognition in preschool children: A comparison between handwriting and typing. *Acta Psychologica*, *119*(1), 67–79. doi:10.1016/j.actpsy.2004.10.019
- Marr, D., Cermak, S., Cohn, E. S., & Henderson, A. (2003). Fine motor activities in Head Start and kindergarten classrooms. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy: Official Publication of the American Occupational Therapy Association*, *57*(5), 550–557.
- May, P. (2002). *HSP 1–9: Diagnose orthografischer Kompetenz Handbuch* [HSP 1–9: Analysis of orthographic ability Manual]. Hamburg, Germany: Verlag für pädagogische Medien.
- McCurdy, M., Skinner, C., Watson, S., & Shriver, M. (2008). Examining the effects of a comprehensive writing program on the writing performance of middle school students with learning disabilities in written expression. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 23(4), 571–586. doi:10.1037/1045-3830.23.4.571
- McHale, K., & Cermak, S. A. (1992). Fine motor activities in elementary school: Preliminary findings and provisional implications for children with fine motor problems. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 46(10), 898–903.
- Medwell, J., & Wray, D. (2007). Handwriting: What do we know and what do we need to know? *Literacy*, 41(1), 10–15. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9345.2007.00453.x
- Medwell, J., & Wray, D. (2014). Handwriting automaticity: The search for performance thresholds. *Language and Education*, 28(1), 34–51.
- Mueller, P. A., & Oppenheimer, D. M. (2014). The pen is mightier than the keyboard advantages of longhand over laptop note taking. *Psychological Science*, 0956797614524581. doi:10.1177/0956797614524581

- National Commission on Writing. (2003). *The neglected "R": The need for a writing revolution*.

 Retrieved from http://

 <u>www.writingcommission.org/prod_downloads/writingcom/neglectedr.pdf</u>.
- Nova Scotia Department of Education. (2006). *Teaching in action grades primary-3*. Retrieved from https://www.ednet.ns.ca/files/curriculum/Teaching in Action P-3.pdf.
- Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development. (2015a). *English* language arts curriculum outcomes.
- Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development. (2015b). *Grades primary-to-3 curriculum to build strong math, literacy foundation*. Retrieved from http://novascotia.ca/news/release/?id=20150520005.
- Nova Scotia Department of Education and Early Childhood Development. (2015c). *The 3 Rs:**Renew, refocus, rebuild. Retrieved from

 https://www.ednet.ns.ca/files/2015/Education Action Plan 2015 EN.pdf.
- Olsen, J. Z. (2008). *Handwriting without tears: Pre-K teacher's guide*. Cabin John, MD: Handwriting Without Tears.
- Peverly, S. T. (2006). The importance of handwriting speed in adult writing. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 29(1), 197–216.
- Peverly, S. T., Garner, J. K., & Vekaria, P. C. (2014). Both handwriting speed and selective attention are important to lecture note-taking. *Reading and Writing*, *27*(1), 1–30. doi:10.1007/s11145-013-9431-x
- Phelps, J., & Stempel, L. (1989). Help for handwriting: Procedures developed at Texas Scottish Rite Hospital. *Education*, 109(4), 388.

- Richards, S., Sturm, J. M., & Cali, K. (2012). Writing instruction in elementary classrooms:

 Making the connection to Common Core State Standards. *Seminars in Speech and Language*, *33*(2), 130–145. doi:10.1055/s-0032-1310313
- Saddler, B., Asaro, K., & Behforooz, B. (2008). The effects of peer-assisted sentence-combining practice on four young writers with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 6(1), 17–31.
- Saddler, B., Behforooz, B., & Asaro, K. (2008). The effects of sentence-combining instruction on the writing of fourth-grade students with writing difficulties. *The Journal of Special Education*, 42(2), 79–90. doi:10.1177/0022466907310371
- Saddler, B., & Graham, S. (2005). The effects of peer-assisted sentence-combining Instruction on the writing performance of more and less skilled young writers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *97*(1), 43–54. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.97.1.43
- Saddler, B. (2013). Best practices in sentence construction skills. In Graham, S., & MacArthur, C.A. (Eds.). *Best practices in writing instruction (2nd ed.)* (pp. 238-256). New York: Guilford Press.
- Santangelo, T., & Graham, S. (2012). A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of teaching handwriting. Retrieved from http://www.hw21summit.com/research-santangelo
- Scardamalia, M., & Bereiter, C. (1986). Research on written composition. In Wittrock, M. C. (Ed.). *Handbook of Research on Teaching (3rd ed.)* (pp. 778-803). New York: MacMillan
- Schlaggar, B. L., & McCandliss, B. D. (2007). Development of neural systems for reading. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *30*, 475–503.

 doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.28.061604.135645

- Schumaker, J. B., & Sheldon, J. (1998). Fundamentals in the sentence writing strategy.

 Lawrence, KS: The University of Kansas Center for Research on Learning.
- Storch, S. A., & Whitehurst, G. J. (2002). Oral language and code-related precursors to reading: Evidence from a longitudinal structural model. *Developmental Psychology*, *38*(6), 934–947.
- Troia, G. A., & Graham, S. (2003). Effective Writing Instruction Across the Grades: What Every Educational Consultant Should Know. *Journal of Educational & Psychological Consultation*, *14*(1), 75–89. doi:10.1207/S1532768XJEPC1401_04
- Tseng, M. H., & Murray, E. A. (1994). Differences in perceptual-motor measures in children with good and poor handwriting. *Occupational Therapy Journal of Research*, *14*(1), 19–36.
- Tucha, O., Tucha, L., & Lange, K.W. (2008). Graphonomics, automaticity and handwriting assessment. *Literacy*, 42(3), 145–155.
- Weil, M., & Amundson, S. (1994). Relationship between visuomotor and handwriting skills of children in kindergarten. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 48, 982-988.
- Weintraub, N., & Graham, S. (2000). The contribution of gender, orthographic, finger function, and visual-motor processes to the prediction of handwriting status. *Occupational Therapy Journal of Research*, 20(2), 121–140.
- Wicki, W., Hurschler Lichtsteiner, S., Saxer Geiger, A., & Müller, M. (2014). Handwriting fluency in children: Impact and correlates. *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 73(2), 87–96.